
1

Democratic Services
White Cliffs Business Park
Dover
Kent  CT16 3PJ

Telephone: (01304) 821199
Fax: (01304) 872452
DX: 6312
Minicom: (01304) 820115
Website: www.dover.gov.uk
e-mail: democraticservices

@dover.gov.uk

1 September 2017

Dear Councillor

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT a special meeting of the CABINET will be held at these 
offices (Council Chamber) on Monday 11 September 2017 at 12.00 pm when the following 
business will be transacted.  

Members of the public who require further information are asked to contact Kate Batty-Smith 
on (01304) 872303 or by e-mail at kate.batty-smith@dover.gov.uk.

Yours sincerely

Chief Executive 

Cabinet Membership:

P A Watkins Leader of the Council
M D Conolly Deputy Leader of the Council
T J Bartlett Portfolio Holder for Property Management and Public 

Protection
P M Beresford Portfolio Holder for Housing, Health and Wellbeing
N J Collor Portfolio Holder for Access and Licensing
N S Kenton Portfolio Holder for Environment, Waste and Planning
K E Morris Portfolio Holder for Skills, Training, Tourism, Voluntary 

Services and Community Safety

AGENDA

1   APOLOGIES  

To receive any apologies for absence.
 

2   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  (Page 3)

To receive any declarations of interest from Members in respect of business to be 
transacted on the agenda. 
 

Public Document Pack



2

EXECUTIVE - KEY DECISIONS 

3   BUSINESS RATES DISCRETIONARY POLICY 2017  (Pages 4 - 32)

To consider the attached report of the Director of EK Services.

Responsibility: Portfolio Holder for Corporate Resources and Performance
 

4   EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC  (Page 33)

The recommendation is attached.

MATTERS WHICH THE MANAGEMENT TEAM SUGGESTS SHOULD BE 
CONSIDERED IN PRIVATE AS THE REPORT CONTAINS EXEMPT 
INFORMATION AS DEFINED WITHIN PART 1 OF SCHEDULE 12A OF THE 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 AS INDICATED AND IN RESPECT OF WHICH 
THE PROPER OFFICER CONSIDERS THAT THE PUBLIC INTEREST IN 
MAINTAINING THE EXEMPTION OUTWEIGHS THE PUBLIC INTEREST IN 
DISCLOSING THE INFORMATION
 

EXECUTIVE - KEY DECISIONS 

5   DOVER LEISURE CENTRE  (Pages 34 - 78)

To consider the report of the Director of Environment and Corporate Assets.

Responsibility: Portfolio Holder for Property Management and Public Protection
 

Access to Meetings and Information

 Members of the public are welcome to attend meetings of the Council, its 
Committees and Sub-Committees.  You may remain present throughout them except 
during the consideration of exempt or confidential information.

 All meetings are held at the Council Offices, Whitfield unless otherwise indicated on 
the front page of the agenda.  There is disabled access via the Council Chamber 
entrance and a disabled toilet is available in the foyer.  In addition, there is a PA 
system and hearing loop within the Council Chamber.

 Agenda papers are published five clear working days before the meeting.  
Alternatively, a limited supply of agendas will be available at the meeting, free of 
charge, and all agendas, reports and minutes can be viewed and downloaded from 
our website www.dover.gov.uk.  Minutes will be published on our website as soon as 
practicably possible after each meeting.  All agenda papers and minutes are 
available for public inspection for a period of six years from the date of the meeting.  

 If you require any further information about the contents of this agenda or your right 
to gain access to information held by the Council please contact Kate Batty-Smith, 
Democratic Support Officer, telephone: (01304) 872303 or email: kate.batty-
smith@dover.gov.uk for details.

Large print copies of this agenda can be supplied on request.



Declarations of Interest

Disclosable Pecuniary Interest (DPI)

Where a Member has a new or registered DPI in a matter under consideration they must 

disclose that they have an interest and, unless the Monitoring Officer has agreed in advance 

that the DPI is a 'Sensitive Interest', explain the nature of that interest at the meeting. The 

Member must withdraw from the meeting at the commencement of the consideration of any 

matter in which they have declared a DPI and must not participate in any discussion of, or 

vote taken on, the matter unless they have been granted a dispensation permitting them to 

do so. If during the consideration of any item a Member becomes aware that they have a 

DPI in the matter they should declare the interest immediately and, subject to any 

dispensations, withdraw from the meeting.

Other Significant Interest (OSI)

Where a Member is declaring an OSI they must also disclose the interest and explain the 

nature of the interest at the meeting. The Member must withdraw from the meeting at the 

commencement of the consideration of any matter in which they have declared a OSI and 

must not participate in any discussion of, or vote taken on, the matter unless they have been 

granted a dispensation to do so or the meeting is one at which members of the public are 

permitted to speak for the purpose of making representations, answering questions or giving 

evidence relating to the matter. In the latter case, the Member may only participate on the 

same basis as a member of the public and cannot participate in any discussion of, or vote 

taken on, the matter and must withdraw from the meeting in accordance with the Council's 

procedure rules.

Voluntary Announcement of Other Interests (VAOI)

Where a Member does not have either a DPI or OSI but is of the opinion that for 

transparency reasons alone s/he should make an announcement in respect of a matter 

under consideration, they can make a VAOI. A Member declaring a VAOI may still remain at 

the meeting and vote on the matter under consideration.

Note to the Code: 

Situations in which a Member may wish to make a VAOI include membership of outside 

bodies that have made representations on agenda items; where a Member knows a person 

involved, but does not have a close association with that person; or where an item would 

affect the well-being of a Member, relative, close associate, employer, etc. but not his/her 

financial position. It should be emphasised that an effect on the financial position of a 

Member, relative, close associate, employer, etc OR an application made by a Member, 

relative, close associate, employer, etc would both probably constitute either an OSI or in 

some cases a DPI.

3

Agenda Item No 2



Dover District Council

Subject: BUSINESS RATES DISCRETIONARY POLICY 2017 

Meeting and Date: CABINET – 11 SEPTEMBER 2017

Report of:: Dominic Whelan, Director of East Kent Services

Portfolio Holder: Councillor Mike Conolly, Portfolio Holder for Corporate 
Resources and Performance

Decision Type: Executive Key Decision

Classification: Unrestricted

Purpose of the report: To Introduce and seek approval of the New Business Rate 
Discretionary Policy as required by Central Government to 
support businesses affected by the Revaluation in 2017. 

Recommendation: To seek approval for the attached Policy and agreement on the 
criteria for allocating the additional Revaluation relief, and 
administer the other reliefs under section 47 of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1988. This will ensure support is 
provided to local businesses that have had an increase in their 
rates payable.

1. Summary
1.1 In the Government’s Budget on the 8th March 2017, the Chancellor announced 

£300M of extra funding for local authorities to provide discretionary relief to those 
businesses facing increases in their business rate bill following the revaluation. The 
Government has described this initiative as “revaluation support” Funding has been 
allocated to the local Authorities to assist the business that have suffered an increase 
in their bills. In that announcement further reliefs were announced as set out in 
Annexe A of the Business Rates Information Letter (4/2017). These reliefs are known 
as; Pub Relief, Supporting Small Business Relief, Pub relief and Relief for 
Newspapers. It is therefore necessary to adopt a new policy to outline the 
administration and awarding of the funding to the local businesses and set out the 
criteria for the qualification of the relief. 

2. Introduction and Background
2.1 Dover’s allocation of the Government’s funding for Discretionary relief is £398K 

spread over the next 4 years. This equates to £232k in 2017-18, £113k in 2018-19, 
46k in 2019-20 and reduces to 7k in 2020-21. These amounts are to be awarded up 
to the maximum level, which had been set by Central Government. It is possible for 
the Council to grant more relief than that allocated by grant. However, once the 
maximum grant level has been reached, any additional amount granted is borne: 
40% by the Council, 10% by Kent County Council and 50% by Central Government.
This relief is to be administered through billing authorities’ discretionary relief powers 
under section 47 of the Local Government Act 1988. Councils will be compensated 
for any relief granted under section 31 of the Local Government Act 2003.

4

Agenda Item No 3



2.2 It has been identified that 777 of Dover’s business rates accounts have had an 
increase in their 2017 rateable value. 1642 accounts remained the same and 1379 
accounts decreased in rateable value, of the 777 we will look to support 374, as 403 
of the 777 do not meet the criteria for support, for example they are a precepting 
authority and or receive state aid funding. 

Pub Relief 
2.3 This scheme provides rate relief of £1,000 to pubs with a rateable value of up to 

£100,000. The detailed eligibility criteria are set out in Annex B of the Business Rates 
Information Letter (4/2017) which is attached at Appendix 1.

2.4 This relief is for the 2017-2018 financial year only. If the ratepayer changes part-way 
through the year, the relief will be apportioned. If the rateable value increases above 
the threshold, relief will be removed from the date of the increase.

Supporting Small Businesses Relief

2.5 This scheme is aimed at those businesses facing increases in their rates bill due to 
losing some or all of their Small Business Rate Relief (SBRR) or Rural Rate Relief 
(RRR). This scheme limits the increase for this group to the greater of:

 A percentage increase per annum of 5%, 7.5%, 10% 15% and 15% (all plus 
inflation) from 2017-2018 to 2021-2022. The increase is calculated on the net 
rates bill for the previous year, rather than the gross charge used to calculate 
the mandatory transitional protection; or

 A cash value of £600 per annum.

2.6 The detailed guidance for the scheme is set out in Annex A of the Business Rates 
Information Letter (4/2017) which is attached at Appendix 1.This relief applies to 
occupied properties. If a property becomes ineligible for relief for a day, it cannot 
return to eligibility if the circumstances change at a later date. The relief will be 
recalculated if the rateable value of the property changes, including retrospective 
changes to rateable values.

Relief for Local Newspapers

2.7 Properties occupied by a local newspaper and wholly or mainly used as office 
premises for journalists and reporters will be eligible for up to £1,500 relief in the 
financial years commencing 1 April 2017 and 1 April 2018. This is limited to one 
award of relief per local newspaper. Full details are provided in Annex A of the 
Government response in ‘The case for a Business Rates Relief for Local 
newspapers’ which is attached at Appendix 1.

Increased Rural Rate Relief

2.8 Rural Rate Relief was first introduced in 1998 and provides 50% mandatory relief for 
village shops, post offices, public houses and petrol stations which are the sole 
business of this type in a rural settlement, provided the rateable value is within the 
limits prescribed in the legislation. The Government announced that relief would be 
increased to 100% from 1 April 2017, but there was insufficient time to change the 
legislation, meaning that for 2017-2018 the additional 50% will be a discretionary 
scheme. These businesses have always been awarded 50% discretionary relief on 
top of the mandatory relief under the existing guidelines and, therefore, the only 

5



change will be that the relief for 2017-2018 will be fully reimbursed. It is expected that 
the change to mandatory relief will be in place from 1 April 2018.

2.9 Local Authorities have the power to design their own discretionary business rates 
relief scheme to determine how the funding is distributed across businesses locally. 
The Government placed a condition on the allocated funding, that this must be used 
to assist those businesses that had an increase in their bills from April 2017 as a 
result of the revaluation.

(a) A policy has been designed to detail the granting of the awards under the 
Discretionary Business Rates Relief Scheme 2017 which contains the 
administration and payment of relief to local businesses.

(b) The Policy details the criteria for receiving an award under the Discretionary 
Business Rates Relief Scheme

(c) The Policy details guidance on granting and administering the reliefs.

(d) The Policy details councils Scheme of Delegation

2.10 The Council need to provide details of their scheme to the major preceptors. This is 
an essential part of the Discretionary Business Rates Relief Scheme and is in line 
with the grant determination issued by the Department of Communities and Local 
Government (DCLG) No.31/3071. 

2.11 The grant determination states that a condition of the fund is that consultation is 
undertaken with ‘relevant authorities’. Relevant authorities for the purposes of this 
scheme means:

(a) Any major precepting authority; and

(b) Any combined authority.

In the case of Dover District Council only the major precepting authorities have been 
consulted namely:

(a) Kent County Council;

(b) The Police and Crime Commissioner for Kent; and

(c) The Kent Fire and Rescue Service.

2.12 Consultation is currently underway and any feedback from preceptors will be 
reported to the meeting. KCC has circulated some general comments on proposed 
schemes. It is looking to support schemes that would make speedy and efficient 
payments to local businesses that have received large increases in this year. It also 
expects schemes costs to be within the government funding provided. 

3. Identification of Options
3.1 The policy has been written to take into account the councils wider economic growth 

priorities and supporting small businesses. The policy best supports the small and 
medium sized, local businesses, over the multinational and national chain 
businesses. It is believed that Multinational and national chains are more prepared to 
cope with increases, and many have actually had reductions in this revaluation. By 
recognising local traders, it is hoped that it will assist growth and support local jobs. A 

6



number of hereditaments are already excluded in accordance with s47 Local 
Government Finance Act 1988. Dover will use the discretionary business rates relief 
to ease the increase of the qualifying accounts. 

3.2 It is proposed that the Council award local businesses 70% of the increase added to 
their bill in 2017 as per the revaluation. This % has been modelled taking into 
account the funding made available and the numbers of hereditaments that qualify 
under the below criteria. In the following years the % will decrease in line with the 
funding made available to the councils.

(a) Target all businesses that are local;

(b) Apply the discretionary business rate relief after all other reliefs have been 
awarded which they are entitled too.

(c) Exclude premises that are occupied by multinational and nation chains.

(d) Exclude Public Sector premises and hereditaments that fall within the 
exception of s47 Local Government Finance Act 1988 and exclude from 
scheme all precepting authority, KCC, KPA, KFR,DDC

(e) Exclude businesses not allocated in the district for the duration of 2016/17 
and or properties which were not occupied on 1st April 2017 by the current 
rate payer.

(f) The hereditament has a Rateable Value of greater than £275,000

3.3 The principle behind this way of modelling, means that every local qualifying account 
will receive an award towards their increased charge and that, 

(a) It has been distributed in a fair an equal way in proportion to the increase faced. 

(b) Can be applied quickly and within the parameters of the Open Revenues systems 
used

(c) Is a straightforward method of administration for the council which will not 
increase the administration costs of the Council.

3.4 There are other reliefs available in addition to the discretionary business rate relief   
which support other areas of the district which include:

(a) Relief for voluntary and community sector organisations

(b) Relief for occupants of new office and workspace

(c) Relief for business temporarily occupying and using space whilst new 
development is completed

(d) Empty property

(e) Exempted buildings

(f) Relief for small business

(g) Pub relief

7



3.5 Other options would be to:-

(a) Award less than the funding allocated 

(b) Award more than the actual funding.

4. Evaluation of Options: 
4.1 There are no options not to award the relief. This was introduced as part of the 

Autumn Statement and recognised under the Local Government Finance Act 1988. 
The proposed policy will award the funding in a fair and robust manner and takes into 
consideration the amount of funding made available to the Council which will 
maximise the funding provided to the businesses.  This is the recommended option

4.2 In relation to the other options, if we award less than the funding allocated the 
unspent amount would have to be returned to the government.  Failure to award the 
full relief puts the business rate collection at risk, and local business may suffer 
hardship when help is available to them.  This option is not recommended.

4.3 If we were to award more than the actual funding allocated the added cost would 
need to be met by the Council and the preceptors which will reduce other service 
funding. Consultation feedback from KCC requested that it must be an affordable 
scheme with no added costs.  This option is not recommended.

5. Resource Implications
5.1 There are no direct cost implications for DDC as the scheme will receive grant 

funding, calculated to the amount awarded to each council, which it is estimated will 
be sufficient to meet the scheme costs.

5.2 As set out above, the funding will be:

 2017/18 £232k

 2018/19 £113k

 2019/20 £46k

 2020/21 £7k

6. Corporate Implications
6.1 Comment from the Section 151 Officer:  The Director of Finance Housing and 

Community has been consulted in the preparation of this report and has no additional 
comments to make (MD).

6.2 Comment from the Solicitor to the Council:  The Solicitor to the Council has been 
consulted in the preparation of this report and has no further comments to make.

6.3 Comment from the Equalities Officer:  This report does not specifically highlight any 
equalities implications however, in discharging their responsibilities members are 
required to comply with the public sector equality duty as set out in section 149 of the 
Equality Act 2010 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15 ‘

7 Appendices
Appendix 1 –Business Rate Information Letter 4/2017 

Background Papers

8

file://eks-store-01.ekds.local/transfer/EKS%20Income%20Team/Business%20Rates/Business%20Rates%20Management%20Team/New%20Discretionary%20Scheme%202017/Equality%20Act%202010%20http:/www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15


Discretionary Policy document and Application template 

Contact Officer:  Mandie Kerry Income Manager EK Services

Mandie.kerry@ekservices.org

9

mailto:Mandie.kerry@ekservices.org


 

 

 

 
 
 

Non-Domestic Rates Team 
LGF BRS 
SE Quarter - 2nd Floor 
Fry Building 
2 Marsham Street 
London SW1P 4DF 

20 June 2017 
Email: ndr@communities.gov.uk 

 
 
Chief Finance Officers of  English Billing Authorities  

          

FOR THE ATTENTION OF THE BUSINESS RATES SECTION 
 
Dear Chief Finance Officer 
 
Business Rates Information Letter (4/2017): Spring Budget Update 
 
This is the fourth business rates information letter to be issued by the 
Department for Communities and Local Government this year.  Previous 
letters are available on the internet at: 
 
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/business-rates-information-letters 
 
or for archived letters: 
 
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20120919132719/http:/www.commu
nities.gov.uk/localgovernment/localgovernmentfinance/businessrates/busrates
informationletters/. 
 

 Supporting Small Businesses 

 New Discretionary Relief Scheme 

 New Business Rate Relief Scheme for Pubs 

 
Supporting Small Businesses 
 
At the Spring Budget, the Chancellor announced that a scheme of relief would 
be made available to those ratepayers facing large increases as a result of 
the loss of small business or rural rate relief.  Initial terms for this scheme 
were published with the BRIL (2/2017) on 9 March 2017. 
 

10

mailto:ndr@communities.gov.uk
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/business-rates-information-letters
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20120919132719/http:/www.communities.gov.uk/localgovernment/localgovernmentfinance/businessrates/busratesinformationletters/
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20120919132719/http:/www.communities.gov.uk/localgovernment/localgovernmentfinance/businessrates/busratesinformationletters/
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20120919132719/http:/www.communities.gov.uk/localgovernment/localgovernmentfinance/businessrates/busratesinformationletters/


 

 

The transitional relief scheme does not provide support in respect of changes 
in reliefs.  Therefore, those ratepayers who are losing some or all of their 
small business or rural rate relief may be facing very large percentage 
increases in bills from 1 April 2017. 
 
On the 16 May a letter was sent to Chief Finance Officers, it included as an 
annex final guidance on the scheme to authorities about the operation and 
delivery of this policy for more complex cases. It includes full technical 
guidance to identify all eligible ratepayers for the duration of the scheme. For 
completeness, this guidance is attached at Annex A. 
 
Local authorities are expected to have begun implementing this scheme for 
simple cases with the initial terms published on 9 March 2017, with a full 
rollout to all cases with the attached final terms. 
 
 
Discretionary Relief Scheme 
 
At the Spring Budget, the Government announced the establishment of a 
£300m discretionary fund over four years from 2017/18 to support businesses 
in their area.  The £300m will cover the four years from 2017/18: 
 

 £175m in 2017/18 

 £85m in 2018/19 

 £35m in 2019/20 

 £5m in 2020/21 

DCLG published a consultation of the design of the scheme and draft 
allocations to billing authorities on 9 March.  Allocations were confirmed on 21 
April in accordance with those draft allocations published as part of the 
consultation. On the 28 April the accompanying Grant Determination was also 
circulated to Chief Finance Officers.  The allocations can be found at: 
 
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/discretionary-business-rates-
relief-scheme  
 
The Government is grateful for all responses to the consultation, which ran 
until 7 April.  Billing authorities have already begun developing their own 
discretionary schemes to deliver targeted support to the most hard-pressed 
ratepayers.  For avoidance of doubt, the design and administration of 
schemes is for authorities to decide and does not necessarily need to follow 
the distribution methodology used in the consultation to determine allocations. 
 
 
Support for Pubs 
 
At the Spring Budget, the Government also announced a new relief scheme 
for pubs that have a rateable value of below £100,000.  Under the scheme, 
eligible pubs will receive a £1000 discount on their bill.  The relief will have 
effect for 2017/18. 
 

11

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/discretionary-business-rates-relief-scheme
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/discretionary-business-rates-relief-scheme


 

 

DCLG has worked with key industry stakeholders to determine the operation 
of the relief scheme for pubs.  Many authorities have already begun the work 
to identify eligible pubs in their area and final guidance on the design and 
delivery of the scheme is attached at Annex B. 
 
 
Administration of New Reliefs 
 
Billing authorities are expected to deliver the scheme through the use of their 
discretionary relief powers under section 47 of the Local Government Finance 
Act 1988, as amended.  Billing authorities will be compensated through a 
Section 31 grant for the cost to the authority of granting the relief – up to a 
maximum amount based on the authority’s allocation of the £300m fund.  The 
grants will be made quarterly in arrears for the duration of the scheme. 
 
We expect billing authorities to have communicated with ratepayers on the 
confirmed terms of the new schemes for relief covered by the BRIL (2/2017) 
and this BRIL (4/2017), including anticipated timescale for rebilling where 
necessary.   
 
 
New Burdens 
 
DCLG recognises that implementing these schemes places additional 
burdens on billing authorities.  In accordance with the New Burdens doctrine, 
the Department has conducted an assessment of the expected reasonable 
additional costs of new software and staffing/administration around rebilling 
affected ratepayers. 
 
Full details of this funding will be published shortly so we encourage local 
authorities to continue to progress with this in mind. 
 
 
Progress Review 
 
We are conducting a short, progress update survey for local authorities to 
update us on their work to date.  We would be grateful for responses from 
local authorities by Friday 30 June 2017.  The survey can be found at: 
www.surveymonkey.co.uk/r/DCLG_Budget_2017 
 
In addition to this, the Department will undertake a wider data collection 
exercise to review the implementation of the schemes once underway.  The 
Department will continue to liaise with local government stakeholders as to 
the form this will take and will confirm with local authorities in due course. 
  

12

http://www.surveymonkey.co.uk/r/DCLG_Budget_2017


 

 

Supporting Small Businesses: Annex A  
 

About this Guidance 
 
1. This guidance is intended to support local authorities in administering the 

scheme of relief for properties losing some or all of their Small Businesses 
Rate Relief or Rural Rate Relief as a result of the 2017 Revaluation – known 
as “Supporting Small Business” relief.  This Guidance applies to England only. 
 

2. This guidance sets out the criteria which central government will use to 
determine funding relief for properties eligible for Supporting Small 
Businesses relief. The Guidance does not replace existing legislation on any 
other relief.   
 

3. Enquiries on this measure should be addressed to: 
ndr@communities.gsi.gov.uk 

 

 
  

13

mailto:ndr@communities.gsi.gov.uk


 

 

Introduction 
 
4. For 2016/17, eligible ratepayers1 with a rateable value less than or equal to 

£6,000 are entitled to 100% small business rate relief. Those with a rateable 
value of between £6,000 and £12,000 enjoy tapered relief from 100% to 0%. 
Following the measures in the 2016 Budget, we are increasing these 
thresholds from 1 April 2017 to £12,000 for the 100% relief and £15,000 for 
the tapered relief. This ensures that most ratepayers currently entitled to small 
business rate relief will pay less or nothing following the revaluation. However, 
some ratepayers that are facing large increases in their rateable value will 
lose some or all of their small business rate relief.  
 

5. For 2016/17 the sole post office, general store, pub or petrol station in rural 
settlements are (subject to rateable value thresholds) entitled to 50% rate 
relief. This is increasing to 100% relief from 1 April 2017. However, some 
ratepayers currently eligible for rural rate relief may lose that entitlement if 
their rateable value increases above the threshold due to the revaluation.  
 

6. The transitional relief scheme does not provide support in respect of changes 
in reliefs. Therefore, those ratepayers who are losing some or all of their small 
business or rural rate relief may be facing large percentage increases in bills 
from 1 April 2017.  
 

7. In the Spring Budget the Chancellor announced that a new scheme of relief 
would be made available to those ratepayers facing large increases as a 
result of the loss of small business or rural rate relief due to the revaluation.  
This document provides guidance to authorities about the operation and 
delivery of this policy.   

 

  

                                            
1 Businesses with more than one property are only eligible for small business rate relief if their additional property or properties 

all have rateable values of under £2,600, and the total rateable value of all their properties are below £18,000 (£25,500 in 
London).   

14



 

 

How will the relief be provided? 
 
8. The government is not changing the legislation around transitional relief2. 

Instead the government will, in line with the eligibility criteria for the 
Supporting Small Businesses scheme, reimburse billing authorities that use 
their discretionary relief powers, under section 47 of the Local Government 
Finance Act 1988, as amended3, to grant relief. Central government will fully 
reimburse local authorities for the local share of the Supporting Small 
Businesses relief (using a grant under section 31 of the Local Government Act 
2003). In view of the fact that such expenditure will be reimbursed, the 
government expects billing authorities to grant Supporting Small Businesses 
relief to all qualifying ratepayers. 

 
9. Central government will reimburse billing authorities and those major 

precepting authorities within the rates retention system for the actual cost to 
them under the rates retention scheme of the relief that falls within the 
definitions in this guidance.  DCLG will also undertake a New Burdens 
assessment of the IT and administrative costs in local government associated 
with the Supporting Small Businesses scheme.  

 
 
  

                                            
2 The Non-Domestic Rating (Chargeable Amounts) (England) Regulations 2016 No. 1265   
3 Section 47 was amended by the Localism Act 2011   

15



 

 

Who is eligible for the relief and how much relief will 
be available? 
 
10. This section describes in principle the Supporting Small Business Scheme.  

Local authorities should use the detailed guidance at section 2 to determine 
eligibility and calculate bills.  The Supporting Small Businesses relief will help 
those ratepayers who as a result of the change in their rateable value at the 
revaluation are losing some or all of their small business or rural rate relief 
and, as a result, are facing large increases in their bills. 
 

11. To support these ratepayers, the Supporting Small Businesses relief will 
ensure that the increase per year in the bills4 of these ratepayers is limited to 
the greater of: 

 
a. a percentage increase p.a. of 5%, 7.5%, 10%, 15% and 15% 2017/18 

to 2021/22 all plus inflation.  Unlike the transitional relief scheme, for 
the first year of the scheme the percentage increase is taken against 
the bill for 31 March 2017 after small business rate relief or rural rate 
relief , or 

b. a cash value of £600 per year (£50 per month).  This cash minimum 
increase ensures that those ratepayers paying nothing or very small 
amounts in 2016/17 after small business rate relief are brought into 
paying something.  

 
12. In the first year of the scheme, this means all ratepayers losing some or all of 

their small business rate relief or rural rate relief will see the increase in their 
bill capped at £600. The cash minimum increase is £600 per year thereafter.  
This means that ratepayers who are currently paying nothing under small 
business rate relief and are losing all of their entitlement to relief (i.e. moving 
from £6,000 rateable value or less to more than £15,000) would under this 
scheme be paying £3,000 in year 5. 
 

13. Those on the Supporting Small Businesses relief scheme whose 2017 
rateable values are £51,000 or more will not be liable to pay the supplement 
(1.3p) to fund small business rate relief while they are eligible for the 
Supporting Small Businesses relief scheme. 
 

14. Ratepayers remain in the Supporting Small Businesses relief scheme for 
either 5 years or until they reach the bill they would have paid without the 
scheme5.  A change of ratepayers will not affect eligibility for the Supporting 
Small Businesses relief scheme but eligibility will be lost if the property falls 
vacant or becomes occupied by a charity or Community Amateur Sports Club.   
 

                                            
4 Prior to the Business Rates Supplement (2p for properties in London with a rateable value of more than £70,000) and City of 

London multiplier (which is 0.5p higher for all properties in London).  The level of these supplements are unchanged at the 
revaluation but changes in the amounts paid through the supplements are outside the transitional relief scheme and the 
Supporting Small Businesses scheme. 

5 This will be the bill in the main transitional relief scheme.   

16



 

 

15. There is no 2nd property test for eligibility for the Supporting Small 
Businesses relief scheme. However, those ratepayers who during 2016/17 
lost entitlement to small business rate relief because they failed the 2nd 
property test but have, under the rules for small business rate relief, been 
given a 12 month period of grace before their relief ended can continue on the 
scheme for the remainder of their 12 month period of grace. 
 

16. Guidance on eligibility and the value of the Supporting Small Businesses relief 
is at Section 2.   
 

17



 

 

Recalculations of relief 
 
17. As with all reliefs, the amount of relief awarded under the Supporting Small 

Businesses relief scheme should be recalculated in the event of a change of 
circumstances.  This could include, for example, a backdated change to the 
rateable value or the hereditament.  This change of circumstances could arise 
during the year in question or during a later year.   
 

18. The Non-Domestic Rating (Discretionary Relief) Regulations 1989 (S.I. 
1989/1059)6 require authorities to provide ratepayers with at least one year’s 
notice in writing before  any decision to revoke or vary a decision so as to 
increase the amount the ratepayer has to pay takes effect.  Such a revocation 
or variation of a decision can only take effect at the end of a financial year.  
But within these regulations, local authorities may still make decisions which 
are conditional upon eligibility criteria or rules for calculating relief which allow 
the amount of relief to be amended within the year to reflect changing 
circumstances. 
 

19. Therefore, when making an award for Supporting Small Businesses relief, 
local authorities should ensure in the conditions of the award that the relief 
can be recalculated in the event of a change to the rating list for the property 
concerned (retrospective or otherwise).   This is so that the relief can be re-
calculated if the rateable value changes.   
 

 
  

                                            
6 The Non-Domestic Rating (Discretionary Relief) Regulations 1989 No. 1059. 

18



 

 

State Aid 
 
20. State Aid law is the means by which the European Union regulates state 

funded support to businesses. Providing discretionary relief to ratepayers is 
likely to amount to State Aid. However the Supporting Small Businesses relief 
scheme will be State Aid compliant where it is provided in accordance with the 
De Minimis Regulations (1407/2013)7. 

 
21. The De Minimis Regulations allow an undertaking to receive up to €200,000 

of De Minimis aid in a rolling three year period (consisting of the current 
financial year and the two previous financial years). Local authorities should 
familiarise themselves with the terms of this State Aid exemption, in particular 
the types of undertaking that are excluded from receiving De Minimis aid 
(Article 1), the relevant definition of undertaking (Article 2(2)8) and the 
requirement to convert the aid into Euros9.  They should ensure each 
business has not exceeded its threshold through all sources of state 
funding10. 

 
22. To administer De Minimis it is necessary for the local authority to establish 

that the award of aid will not result in the undertaking having received more 
than €200,000 of De Minimis aid. Note that the threshold only relates to aid 
provided under the De Minimis Regulations (aid under other exemptions or 
outside the scope of State Aid is not relevant to the De Minimis calculation). 
Where local authorities have further questions about De Minimis or other 
aspects of State Aid law, they should seek advice from their legal department 
in the first instance11.   
 

 
  

                                            
7 http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2013:352:0001:0008:EN:PDF 
8 The ‘New SME Definition user guide and model declaration’ provides further guidance: 

http://ec.europa.eu/enterprise/policies/sme/files/sme_definition/sme_user_guide_en.pdf 
9 http://ec.europa.eu/budget/contracts_grants/info_contracts/inforeuro/inforeuro_en.cfm 
10 Article 3(2) of the De Minimis Regulation 
11 Detailed State Aid guidance can also be found at: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/15277/National_State_Aid_Law_Requireme
nts.pdf 

19

http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2013:352:0001:0008:EN:PDF
http://ec.europa.eu/enterprise/policies/sme/files/sme_definition/sme_user_guide_en.pdf
http://ec.europa.eu/budget/contracts_grants/info_contracts/inforeuro/inforeuro_en.cfm
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/15277/National_State_Aid_Law_Requirements.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/15277/National_State_Aid_Law_Requirements.pdf


 

 

Other Reliefs 
 
23. Hereditaments eligible for charity or Community Amateur Sports Club relief or 

hereditaments which are unoccupied are not eligible for Supporting Small 
Businesses Relief.  And, for the avoidance of doubt, small business rate relief 
or rural rate relief should not be applied to further reduce the bill found under 
Supporting Small Business relief (to avoid the double counting of relief – see 
the detailed rules in section 2).  For example,  
 

 a ratepayer eligible for Small Business Rate Relief whose rateable value 
has increased from £3,000 (paying £0 in 2016/17) to £14,000 would be 
paying the following in 2017/18 before Supporting Small Businesses relief: 
 

o Bill before reliefs:     £6,524, 
o Bill after transitional relief:    £1,555 
o Bill after Small Business Rate Relief (@1/3)  £1.037. 

 

 After Supporting Small Business Relief the bill for 2017/18 would be 
reduced to £600.  No further Small Business Rate Relief should be applied 
to the £600 bill.   

 
24. The same principle applies to properties for which a Section 44A certificate 

has been granted (apportionment of rateable values for partly occupied 
properties).  The presence of a section 44A certificate should not further 
reduce the bill found under the Supporting Small Business scheme.   
 

25. All other discretionary reliefs, including those funded by section 31 grants, 
should be considered after the application of Supporting Small Businesses 
relief.  Following discussions with local government stakeholders and their 
software providers, the expectation is that Supporting Small Businesses relief 
will be shown on the bill as an adjustment to the chargeable amount after any 
transitional relief – i.e. it will appear as a deduction.   
 
 

  

20



 

 

Compensation Arrangements 
 
26. Central government will reimburse billing authorities and those major 

precepting authorities for the actual cost to them under the rates retention 
scheme of the Supporting Small Businesses relief.  Local authorities will be 
asked to provide an estimate of their likely total cost for providing the relief in 
a one off estimate for 2017/18.  Central government will then provide 
payments to local authorities for their share of the cost of the estimated relief 
for 2017/18.  The final cost to local authorities will be calculated and 
reconciled following the NNDR3 for 2017/18.  
 

27. Guidance for local authorities on how to calculate the value of the section 31 
grant will be included in the guidance notes for completing the National Non-
Domestic Returns (NNDRs).  However, in line with the New Burden’s 
principle, section 31 compensation will be calculated having regard to the 
additional costs on local government of awarding the relief (before any other 
section 47 reliefs).  Therefore, the section 31 grant for Supporting Small 
Businesses should be calculated by: 
 

a. taking the chargeable amount which would have applied for the 
hereditament after the transitional arrangements and other mandatory 
reliefs but before discretionary reliefs, 
 
and deducting 
 

b. the chargeable amount found under the Supporting Small Business 
scheme before other discretionary reliefs. 

 
28. The same principle will apply for calculation Transitional Protection Payments 

(TPPs) for the purposes of non-domestic rating income in the rates retention 
scheme.  TPPs on NNDR1s and NNDR3s will be calculating ignoring the 
Supporting Small Businesses scheme.   

  

21



 

 

Section 2: Detailed guidance for operation of the 
Supporting Small Businesses (SSB) scheme 

Day 1 Eligibility for the Scheme 

29. For 1 April 2017, the supporting small businesses (SSB) relief scheme applies 
to hereditaments for which12:  
 

a. the chargeable amount for 31 March 2017 is calculated in accordance 
with section 43(4B) or (6B),  

 
b. in relation to 43(4B) the value of E for 31 March 2017 is greater than 1,  

 
c. the chargeable amount for 1 April 2017 is found in accordance with 

section 43(4), 43(4B), 43(6A) or where regulations 12(3), 12(7) or 12(9) 
of the Non-Domestic Rating (Chargeable Amounts) (England) 
Regulations 2016 No. 1265 applies, and  

 
d. the chargeable amount for 1 April 2017 is more than (£600/365) higher 

than the chargeable amount for 31 March 2017.  
 

30. Where for 31 March 2017 the chargeable amount has been found under 
section 47, then eligibility for SSB should be determined as if section 47 did 
not apply.  

 
31. Where the hereditament is shown in a local list for the area of a special 

authority (i.e. the City of London), then eligibility for SSB should be 
determined as if the special authority’s small business non-domestic rating 
multiplier was 48.4p for 2016/17 and 46.6p for 2017/18.  
 

Continued eligibility for the scheme after 1 April 2017 

32. After 1 April 2017, the Supporting Small Businesses (SSB) scheme will cease 
to apply where: 
 

a. the chargeable amount for a day found under the SSB scheme is the 
same as or more than the chargeable amount found in the absence of 
the SSB scheme.  This ensures that where, for example, the minimum 
increase in the chargeable amount in the SSB scheme would take the 
bill above the level it would otherwise have been then the hereditament 
will drop out of the SSB scheme.  It also ensures that where, for 
example, with effect from after 1/4/17, the hereditament becomes 
eligible for 100% Small Business Rate Relief then they also fall out of 
the SSB scheme,  
 

b. the chargeable amount for a day would otherwise fall to be found by 
section 43(5) or where paragraph 12(5) or sub-paragraphs 2(4), 3(4), 
4(4), 5(4) of Schedule 2 of the Non-Domestic Rating (Chargeable 

                                            
12 unless otherwise stated, references are to the Local Government Finance Act 1988 

22



 

 

Amounts) (England) Regulations 2016 No. 1265 applies (charities or 
registered community amateur sports clubs), or 
 

c. the hereditament for a day is unoccupied. 
 

33. Furthermore, where the ratepayer during 2016/17 lost entitlement to small 
business rate relief because they failed the 2nd property test but have, under 
the rules for small business rate relief, been given a 12 month period of grace 
before their relief ended (and therefore was still entitled to small business rate 
relief on 31 March 2017), then eligibility for the SSB scheme will cease at the 
end of that 12 months period of grace. 

 
34. Hereditaments which cease to be entitled to Supporting Small Businesses for 

a day cannot return to eligibility if their circumstances change from a later day.  
For example, if a property falls unoccupied it will not then be eligible for 
Supporting Small Businesses relief if it subsequently becomes occupied 
again.   
 

Chargeable Amount under the Supporting Small Businesses 
Scheme  

35. Where the Supporting Small Businesses scheme applies then DCLG will fund 
local authorities to apply a chargeable amount under section 47 of the 1988 
Act for the period 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2022 found in accordance with the 
rules in [Part 1 to Part 3 of] the Non-Domestic Rating (Chargeable Amounts) 
(England) Regulations 2016 No. 1265 subject to the following changes: 
 

a. BL for 2017/18 is the chargeable amount for 31 March 2017 x 365 (on 
the assumption that section 47 did not apply for 31 March 2017 and on 
the assumption in the City of London that the special authority’s small 
business non-domestic rating multiplier was 48.4p for 2016/17).  This 
ensures the starting base liability for hereditaments eligible for SSB 
include the SBRR or rural rate relief for 31 March, 

 
b. Where a certificate has been issued under regulations 17 or 18 then BL 

for 2017/18 should be found in line with a) above but on the 
assumption that the rateable value in the rating list was the rateable 
values as certified, 
 

c. References to “(BL x AF)” are to “(BL x AF) or (BL + 600) whichever is 
the greater”.  This ensures the bill increase is the greater or £600 or the 
increase under the caps in the transitional relief scheme, 

 
d. AF is found in accordance with regulation 10(6) irrespective of the 

rateable value of the hereditament for 1 April 2017.  This ensures only 
the cap on increases for small properties is applied in the SSB scheme 
irrespective of the actual rateable value of the hereditament, 

 

23



 

 

e. regulation 12(6)(b) is omitted.  This ensures SBRR is not also applied 
to the capped bill in the SSB scheme.  This avoids double counting of 
relief as illustrated at paragraph 23 above, 

 
f. the reference to “2” in regulation 12(8) is “1”.  This ensures rural rate 

relief is not also applied to the capped bill in the SSB scheme.  This 
avoids double counting of relief, 

 
g. “U” is taken to have a value of 0 throughout.  This ensures that any 

hereditament whose rateable value is £51,000 or more does not have 
to pay the 1.3p supplement whilst eligible for SSB relief, 
 

h. for a year (the year concerned) other than 2017/18, BL is (BL x AF) or 
(BL + 600) from the year immediately  the year concerned whichever is 
the greater. 

 
36. No change is made to the meaning of NCA.  However, as discussed above, 

eligibility for Supporting Small Businesses relief ceases when the chargeable 
amount for a day found under the Supporting Small Businesses scheme is the 
same as or more than the chargeable amount found outside the scheme.   
 

37. Regulation 6 (special authorities) will apply as normal under the Supporting 
Small Businesses scheme.  This ensures ratepayers in the City of London 
continue to pay any additional amount attributable to the City multiplier. 
 

38. For the avoidance of doubt, the rules for changes in rateable value with effect 
from after 1 April 2017 (regulation 13) will continue to apply as normal subject 
to the amendments in paragraph 35 above.  This ensures that, for example, 
later increases in rateable value are paid in full in the normal way13.   
 

Splits and mergers 

39. The SSB scheme will apply to hereditaments: 
 

a. coming into existence because of the circumstances described in 
paragraph 1 of Schedule 2 of Non-Domestic Rating (Chargeable 
Amounts) (England) Regulations 2016 No. 1265,  

b. where one of the hereditaments from which the new hereditament was 
formed in whole or in part was for the day immediately before the 
creation day eligible for the SSB scheme, and 

c. the circumstances described at paragraph 32 above do not apply for 
the creation day in respect of the hereditament. 
 

40. After the creation day, the SSB scheme will cease to apply in the 
circumstances described in paragraph 32 above.   
 

41. The number of hereditaments eligible for SSB which then split or merge is 
likely to be very small and devising rules in particular for mergers with 

                                            
13 based on the small business non-domestic multiplier.  This is because U is taken to have a value of 0 throughout.    

24



 

 

properties outside of the SSB scheme would be complex.  Therefore, in 
discussions with local authority stakeholders, DCLG has concluded it would 
be disproportionate to devise detailed rules to prescribe the chargeable 
amounts in the various circumstances which could arise from a split or a 
merger.   
 

42. Instead, for hereditaments meeting the criteria in paragraph 39 and 40 above, 
DCLG will fund local authorities to apply a chargeable amount under section 
47 of the 1988 Act found in accordance with the following principle: 
 

a. that the protection offered by the SSB scheme (that the bill will not rise 
by the greater of £600 p.a. or the transitional relief caps) will continue 
to apply in principle to that part of the newly created hereditament 
which was immediately before the creation day in the SSB scheme, 
and 

b. that increases (or reductions) in overall rateable value arising from the 
split or merger are not subject to the protection of the SSB scheme.   

 
43. For simple splits of hereditaments previously eligible for SSB, authorities may 

wish to simply apportion the chargeable amount in the SSB scheme for the 
hereditament before the split in line with the change in rateable value from the 
split (i.e. in line with the principle in Schedule 2 of Non-Domestic Rating 
(Chargeable Amounts) (England) Regulations 2016 No. 1265).   
 

44. For mergers and reorganisations, authorities will have to estimate the degree 
to which, in line with the principle of the SSB scheme, that part of the 
hereditament which was formerly eligible for SSB should continue to receive 
support under the SSB scheme.  DCLG does not expect authorities to seek 
any formal apportionments of the rateable value for this purpose.   

 
  

25



 

 

Support for Pubs Guidance: Annex B 
 

1. About this guidance 
 
1.1 This guidance is intended to support local authorities in administering the 

“Pubs Relief Scheme” announced in the Budget on 8 March 2017. This 
guidance applies to England only.  

 
1.2  This guidance sets out the detailed criteria, which local Government will use 

to provide funding relief for pubs. This guidance does not replace existing 
legislation or any other relief.  

 
1.3  Enquiries on this measure should be addressed to:  

ndr@communities.gsi.gov.uk 
 

 
 
 

26

mailto:ndr@communities.gsi.gov.uk


 

 

2. Introduction   
 
2.1  The Government recognises the important role that pubs play in urban and 

rural communities across the country. At Spring Budget 2017, the Chancellor 

announced a £1,000 business rate discount for public houses with a rateable 

value of up to £100,000 for one year from 1 April 2017.  This was part of a 

wider £435m package to support businesses – including pubs - facing 

significant increases in rate bills following the business rates revaluation. This 

included £110m of support for small businesses losing small business rates 

relief (SBRR) or rural rate relief (RRR) and providing local authorities with 

funding to support £300 million of discretionary relief.   

 

2.2 This document provides guidance on the pubs relief scheme.  It sets out how 

the scheme should operate and the eligibility criteria that should apply.  

 

2.3 The Government expects local billing authorities to use their discretionary 

relief powers under section 47 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 to 

grant relief to all qualifying ratepayers.  We will reimburse local authorities 

using grants under section 31 of the Local Government Act 2003, provided 

they have acted in accordance with guidance. No new legislation will be 

required to deliver the scheme. Sections below explain how the scheme will 

operate, the level of funding available, and the means of compensation. 

 

2.4 The guidance will be of interest to local authorities, operators of pubs and 
similar businesses, and their representative bodies.  

27



 

 

3.  Eligibility criteria - which properties should 
benefit 
 
3.1  This section describes in principle the Pubs Relief Scheme. Local authorities 

should use this section to determine eligibility for the relief. The scheme will 

be available to eligible occupied properties with a rateable value of less than 

£100,000. The majority of pubs are independently owned or managed and will 

not be part of chains. Where pubs are part of a chain, relief will be available 

for each eligible property in the chain, subject to meeting State Aid 

requirements (see section 5 of this guidance). 

  

3.2 There is no definitive description of a traditional pub or public house in law 

which could be readily used by local authorities to determine eligibility. The 

objective has been to adopt an approach that makes the design and eligibility 

of the scheme easy to implement by local authorities in a clear and consistent 

way, is widely accepted by the industry and which is consistent with the 

Government’s policy intention as set out in this section.  

 

3.3 The Government’s policy intention is that eligible pubs should:  

 

 be open to the general public  

 allow free entry other than when occasional entertainment is 

provided 

 allow drinking without requiring food to be consumed 

 permit drinks to be purchased at a bar.  

 

For these purposes, it should  exclude: 

 

 restaurants 

 cafes 

 nightclubs  

 hotels 

 snack bars 

 guesthouses 

 boarding houses 

 sporting venues 

 music venues 

 festival sites 

 theatres 

 museums  

 exhibition halls 

 cinemas 

28



 

 

 concert halls 

 casinos 

 

3.4 The proposed exclusions in the list at para 3.3 is not intended to be 

exhaustive and it will be for the local authority to determine those cases where 

eligibility is unclear.  We believe that billing authorities will already have a 

good understanding of the licensed premises in their areas and will be able to 

readily form a view on eligibility in the majority of cases. We expect local 

authorities to design the implementation of the scheme with regard to their 

business rates base and existing collection practices. 

 

3.5 Where eligibility is unclear authorities should also consider broader factors in 

their considerations – i.e., in meeting the stated intent of policy that it 

demonstrates the characteristics that would lead it to be classified as a pub, 

for example being owned and operated by a brewery.  Additionally, local 

authorities may also wish to consider other methods of classification, such as 

the planning system and the use classes order to help them decide whether a 

property is a pub or not.  However, permission for a particular use class will 

not necessarily mean that the property meets the definition of a pub. 

 

29



 

 

4. How much relief will be available? 
 
4.1  The total amount of Government-funded relief available for 2017/18 under this 

scheme is up to £1,000 for each eligible property. There is no relief available 

under this scheme for properties with a rateable value of £100,000 or more. 

Eligibility for the relief and the relief itself will be assessed and calculated on a 

daily basis. 

 

4.2 In addition to the pub scheme set out in this guidance, the Chancellor 

announced in the Spring Budget that £110 million will be available to assist 

ratepayers losing small business rates relief or rural rate relief as a result of 

revaluation. On top of this, the Government is also making available a 

separate £300 million discretionary relief fund over the next four years to 

enable local authorities to help individual businesses that are facing increased 

rates bills. Both of these schemes may also be available to pubs. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

30



 

 

 

5. Compensation arrangements 
 
5.1 Government will reimburse billing authorities and those major precepting 

authorities for the actual cost to them under the rates retention scheme of the 

relief that falls within the adopted criteria for pubs relief.  Local authorities will 

be asked to provide an estimate of their likely total cost for providing the relief 

in a one off estimate for 2017/18.  The Government will then provide 

payments to local authorities for their share (under the rates retention 

scheme) of the cost of the estimated relief for 2017/18.  The final cost to local 

authorities will be calculated and reconciled following the NNDR3 for 

2017/18.  

 

State Aid 

 

5.2 State Aid law is the means by which the European Union regulates state 

funded support to businesses. Providing discretionary relief to ratepayers is 

likely to amount to State Aid. However the support for ratepayers will be State 

Aid compliant where it is provided in accordance with the de minimis 

regulations (EC 1407/2013)14. 

 

5.3 The de minimis regulations allow an undertaking to receive up to €200,000 of 

‘de minimis’ aid over a rolling three year period (consisting of the current 

financial year and the two previous financial years). Local authorities should 

familiarise themselves with the terms of this State Aid exemption, in particular 

the types of undertaking that are excluded from receiving de minimis aid 

(Article 1), the relevant definition of undertaking (Article 2(2)15) and the 

requirement to convert the aid into Euros16. 

 

5.4 It is necessary for the local authority to establish that the awarding of aid will 

not result in the undertaking having received more than €200,000 of de 

minimis aid. Note that the threshold only relates to aid provided under the de 

minimis regulations (aid under other exemptions or outside the scope of State 

Aid is not relevant to the de minimis calculation). Where local authorities have 

further questions about the de minimis regulations or other aspects of State 

Aid law, they should seek advice from their legal department in the first 

instance17.   

 

                                            
14 http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2013:352:0001:0008:EN:PDF 
15 The ‘New SME Definition user guide and model declaration’ provides further guidance: 

http://ec.europa.eu/enterprise/policies/sme/files/sme_definition/sme_user_guide_en.pdf 
16 http://ec.europa.eu/budget/contracts_grants/info_contracts/inforeuro/inforeuro_en.cfm 
17 Detailed State Aid guidance can also be found at: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/15277/National_State_Aid_Law_Requireme
nts.pdf 

31

http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2013:352:0001:0008:EN:PDF
http://ec.europa.eu/enterprise/policies/sme/files/sme_definition/sme_user_guide_en.pdf
http://ec.europa.eu/budget/contracts_grants/info_contracts/inforeuro/inforeuro_en.cfm
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/15277/National_State_Aid_Law_Requirements.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/15277/National_State_Aid_Law_Requirements.pdf


 

 

5.5 Pubs are within the scope of State Aid law as companies within the hospitality 

sector can and do set up business in other Member States as they trade on a 

market. Linked enterprises are considered as one single undertaking for the 

application of the de minimis rule, therefore can receive €200,000 de minimis 

aid (including that outside of business rates relief) over three years.  

 

Discretionary Relief in Enterprise Zones? 

 

5.6 Where an eligible property is also eligible for Enterprise Zone relief, then 

Enterprise Zone relief should be granted and this will be funded under the 

rates retention scheme by a deduction from the central share. Local 

authorities should not provide pub relief to properties which would otherwise 

qualify for Enterprise Zone Government funded relief. 

 

Other Discretionary Reliefs reimbursed by s.31 grants 

 

5.7 Similarly, if a property is eligible for relief under other schemes for which s.31 

grant is payable – for example, “new empty property” relief, or the Supporting 

Small Business Scheme– authorities should first award relief under those 

schemes and claim s.31 grant funding in the normal way.  Only having 

awarded relief under those schemes, should they then award additional relief 

in accordance with the Pubs Relief Scheme.  

 

5.8 DCLG does not prescribe whether Scheme 2 (Discretionary Relief) is 

calculated before or after Scheme 3 (Support for Pubs).  However, DCLG 

understands that authorities and software companies will follow the practice of 

taking the Discretionary Relief before the Pubs Relief. 

32



DOVER DISTRICT COUNCIL

NON-KEY DECISION EXECUTIVE

CABINET – 11 SEPTEMBER 2017

EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC

Recommendation

That, in accordance with the provisions of the Local Authorities (Executive 
Arrangements) (Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2000, the public be 
excluded from the remainder of the meeting for the following item of business on the 
grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in the 
paragraph of Schedule 12A of the 1972 Act set out below:

Item Report Paragraph 
Exempt

Reason

Dover Leisure Centre 3 Information relating to 
the financial or 
business affairs of any 
particular person 
(including the authority 
holding that 
information)

33

Agenda Item No 4



Document is Restricted

34

Agenda Item No 5
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

46

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

61

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

70

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.


	Agenda
	2 Declarations of Interest
	3 Business Rates Discretionary Policy 2017
	Business Rates Report - Appendix 1

	4 Exclusion of the Press and Public
	5 Dover Leisure Centre
	Appendix A Dover Leisure Centre 2nd Stage Tender Report rev 0 030817
	Appendix B DoverLeisureManagementProcurement-EvaluationReport-July17
	Appendix C Equality Impact Asessment


